No. 46633-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

Anthony Ralls,

Appellant.

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-01703-4

The Honorable Judge Bryan Chushcoff

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Ralls's convictions infringed his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court's nonstandard "retaliation" instruction relieved the prosecution of its obligation to disprove self-defense.
- 2. The court's instructions failed to make the self-defense standards manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 3. The court's "retaliation" instruction improperly commented on the evidence, in violation of Wash. Const. art. IV, § 16.
- 4. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 19A.
 - **ISSUE 1**: A court's instructions must make the standard for self-defense manifestly clear. Did the court's "retaliation" instruction misstate the law and relieve the prosecution of its burden to disprove self-defense?
 - **ISSUE 2:** A trial judge may not comment matters of fact. Did the trial judge comment on the evidence by telling jurors that the right of self-defense does not permit action done in retaliation or revenge?
- 5. Mr. Ralls's conviction violated due process as a result of the unwarranted aggressor instruction.
- 6. The court improperly stripped Mr. Ralls of his self-defense claim and relieved the state of its obligation to disprove self-defense by giving an unwarranted aggressor instruction.
- 7. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 19.
 - **ISSUE 3:** The first-aggressor doctrine requires evidence that the accused person intentionally provoked a fight through an intentional unlawful act. Did the trial court err by giving a first aggressor instruction based on evidence that Mr. Ralls and his companions lawfully drove on a public street to Houston's location?
 - **ISSUE 4**: The first-aggressor rule does not apply unless the defendant's intentional act is "reasonably likely" to provoke a belligerent response from a reasonable person; it does not apply to unreasonable belligerence. Did the aggressor

instruction improperly strip Mr. Ralls of his legitimate self-defense claim?

- 8. Mr. Ralls's conviction violated his Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because the court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the elements of accomplice liability.
- 9. The court's instruction defining "accomplice" failed to make the relevant standard manifestly clear.
- 10. The court's accomplice instruction allowed conviction based on mere knowledge, without proof of criminal intent.
- 11. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 9.

ISSUE 5: Accomplice liability requires proof that the accused person associated himself with a criminal venture and took some action to help make it successful. Did the court's instructions allow conviction based on mere knowledge, without proof of intent to further a crime?

- 12. The court's improper answer to the jury's question failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
- 13. The court's improper answer to the jury's question relieved the state of its burden to prove Mr. Ralls's guilt as an accomplice.
- 14. The court's improper answer to the jury's question erroneously permitted conviction for murder if the jury believed that Mr. Ralls knew that he was promoting or facilitating "a" crime.
- 15. The court's improper answer to the jury's question commented on the evidence, in violation of art. IV, § 16.

ISSUE 6: Conviction as an accomplice requires proof that the accused person knew he was promoting or facilitating the charged crime. Did the court's improper answer to a jury inquiry allow conviction for murder if jurors believed that Mr. Ralls knew he was participating in "a" crime other than murder?

ISSUE 7: A judge may not convey to the jury his or her personal attitude toward the merits of the case. Did the judge imply that jurors should convict Mr. Ralls of murder if they found that he was an accomplice to any crime?

- 16. The trial judge erred by seating an alternate juror who had been unconditionally discharged.
- 17. The trial judge erred by failing to take appropriate steps to protect the alternate juror from influence, interference, or publicity which might affect the juror's ability to remain impartial.
- 18. When excusing the alternate juror who was later recalled and seated on the jury, the trial judge erred by failing to admonish her not to discuss the case with anyone and to avoid publicity about the trial.
- 19. The trial judge erred by seating the alternate juror without conducting brief *voir dire* of her, in light of his failure to admonish her prior to excusing her.
 - **ISSUE 8:** An alternate juror may not be recalled once discharged by the court. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Ralls's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury by seating an alternate juror who had been discharged rather than temporarily excused from service?
 - **ISSUE 9:** When jurors are temporarily excused but not discharged, the trial judge "shall take appropriate steps" to protect their impartiality. Did the trial judge err by recalling and seating an alternate juror after failing to take appropriate steps to protect her from influence, interference, or publicity?
 - **ISSUE 10:** A trial judge may conduct brief *voir dire* before seating an alternate juror. In light of the court's failure to admonish the alternate juror when she was discharged, should the trial judge have conducted brief *voir dire* to make certain she remained impartial?
- 20. The court erred by ordering Mr. Ralls to pay \$2800 in legal financial obligations without conducting any inquiry into his ability to pay.
 - **ISSUE 11:** A court may not order a person to pay legal financial obligations (LFOs) without conducting an individualized inquiry into his/her means to do so. Did the court err by ordering Mr. Ralls to pay \$2800 in LFOs, while also finding him indigent and without analyzing whether he had the money to pay?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

In late summer of 1988, Anthony Ralls came to Pierce County. RP (7/28/14) 2409-2411, 2413-2415. He was 18, and he came to see his girlfriend, a woman he later married. RP (7/28/14) 2410, 2412-2415. Through her, he met a man named Brian Allen. While in Tacoma, Mr. Ralls spent most of his time with his girlfriend and Allen. RP (7/28/14) 2419-2422.

On August 28, 1988, two local drug dealers named Bernard

Houston and Michael Jeter committed several drive-by shootings while
driving a Jeep. RP (7/1/14) 136; RP (7/2/14) 395-397; RP (7/8/14) 861,
865; RP (7/9/14) 943, 1033; RP (7/9/14) 1051-1052, 1056-1057; RP
(7/10/14) 1160, 1200; RP (7/14/14) 1261, 1267, 1350, 1385, 1393.

Houston and Jeter, who went by "Clown" and "Sike" (or "Psycho"), were also believed to be "Crips" gang members.² RP (7/2/14) 401-402; RP
(7/8/14) 861, 864; RP (7/14/14) 1266; Ex 53, 54.

¹ Also spelled "Syk." RP (7/8/14) 864, 979-980.

² Jeter later said he was trying to gain entry into the Crips gang at the time. RP (7/8/14) 861.

The two shot the "oak tree," a corner where young people hung out. RP (7/9/14) 1053; RP (7/14/14) 1261-1263, 1266, 1392. They shot at a car driven by Allen.³ RP (7/14/14) 1382.

That same day, Houston and Jeter also shot into a house. This third shooting was especially upsetting to all who heard about it, as there was a baby named Brittanya in the home at the time. Brittanya had just been moved from a couch before the shooting, and a bullet struck the couch. RP (7/9/14) 1050; RP (7/14/14) 1263-1264, 1396.

Two cars of young men went to the Hilltop area of Tacoma where Jeter and Houston could be found. RP (7/9/14) 1042-1044; RP (7/14/14) 1268, 1407. They had no specific plan other than to confront Jeter and Houston. RP (7/10/14) 1170-1173, 1228-1229; RP (7/14/14) 1298, 1400; RP (7/15/14) 1469-1470, 1519, 1554-1555. Mr. Ralls was a passenger in one of the cars. RP (7/14/14) 1268-1269, 1301.

The young men drove around, spotted the Jeep and approached it. RP (7/14/14) 1265, 1279.

Houston shot at them. RP (7/1/14) 154-162; RP (7/2/14) 279-280; RP (7/2/14) 410-417, 445-446; RP (7/3/14) 507; RP (7/8/14) 880-903; RP (7/10/14) 1185; RP (7/14/14) 1276-1277, 1411-1412; RP (7/28/14) 2445.

³ Allen later claimed Mr. Ralls was in the car with him, but Mr. Ralls said he was not. RP (7/14/14) 1382; RP (7/28/14) 2421; RP (7/29/14) 2506.

There was return fire from the cars. RP (7/2/14) 410-417, 445-446; RP (7/8/14) 880-903, RP (7/14/14) 1276-1277. Houston was hit in the head and died. Jeter ran and was hit in the leg. RP (7/1/14) 136; RP (7/7/14) 598.

Neither Jeter nor anyone else who witnessed the incident knew who had fired shots from the two cars. (7/2/14) 404-420, 445-447; RP (7/8/14) 774-794; RP (7/8/14) 889-892; RP (7/9/14) 965-966.

Years later, in 2001, a new detective was assigned after the original detective retired.⁴ RP (3/10/14) 8; RP (7/7/14) 734-735. During his first year on the case, Detective John Ringer spoke to Terris Miller and Darrel Lee. RP (3/10/14) 9-18; RP (7/17/14) 1881-1889, 1893-1897. He had received information linking them both to the shooting. RP (3/10/14) 9, 43; RP (7/17/14) 1870. Before questioning each of them, he reviewed what he knew in great detail. RP (7/14/14) 1327-1329; (7/17/14) 1871, 1882-1889, 1897; RP (7/21/14) 1978-1983, 1989-1990, 2074.

Detective Ringer told Miller the "basics of the crime." RP (7/17/14) 1889. The detective laid out photos of each person he believed was involved, showing who was in which car. RP (7/17/14) 1889. He made a diagram of the scene. RP (7/21/14) 1978-1983.

⁴ This new detective, John Ringer, had retired by the time trial started. RP (7/17/14) 1855-1856.

He did the same with Lee. RP (7/21/14) 1989-1990. In addition, he showed Lee all of the discovery for the case, including what Miller had told him. RP (7/21/14) 1989-1990, 2074.

After listening to Detective Ringer's presentation, they both said they had been present at the shooting. Ex. 53, 54. However, both denied shooting Houston. Ex. 53, 54. Instead, they implicated Allen, Mr. Ralls, and Nathaniel Miles. Ex. 53, 54.

No one was charged until 2011.⁵ CP 1-2. At that time, the state charged all five men with first-degree murder.⁶ CP 84-85.

Miller accepted a deal from the prosecutor to testify against Ralls, Miles and Allen. RP (3/24/14) 18; RP (6/30/14) 4, 10. He pled guilty to first-degree murder and agreed to testify against his codefendants. RP (3/24/14) 18; RP (6/30/14) 4. In return, the state agreed to allow him to withdraw his plea and plead guilty to a reduced charge.⁷ He expected to be sentenced to time served (14 months). RP (7/9/14) 1096.

⁵ The defendants objected to the late charging. They argued that they could not locate some witnesses, some had died in the interim, one of the firearms involved had been destroyed, and that the defense was prejudiced by the unjustified charging delay. RP (1/31/14) 4-58.

⁶ The state charged murder with premeditated intent, and murder by extreme indifference. The jury acquitted Mr. Ralls of the premeditated murder. CP 84, 136.

⁷ The reduced charge was drive by shooting, which was not a crime in 1988. RP (3/24/14) 18; RP (4/10/14) 4; RP (6/30/14) 4, 10; RP (7/9/14) 1098-1106; RP (7/14/14) 1245-1247, 1291; RCW 9A.36.045; *See* Laws 1989 Ch 271 §109; Laws 1994 Sp. S Ch 7 §511; Laws 1995 Ch 129 §§8, 19 (Initiative Measure No. 159); Laws 1997 Ch 338, §44.

Days later, after trial had started, Lee entered the same agreement. RP (4/10/14) 4; RP (6/30/14) 4, 10; RP (7/14/14) 1293.

On the fifth day of trial, Allen accepted the same deal with the state in exchange for his testimony against Miles and Ralls. RP (7/3/14) 474; RP (7/14/14) 1427-1429.

After Allen pled guilty, Mr. Ralls moved to continue the trial. The motion was denied. RP (7/3/14) 484-485.

At trial, several people testified that the first shot came from the area of the Jeep, not the two other cars. RP (7/2/14) 412-413; RP (7/3/14) 507; RP (7/14/14) 1276-1277, 1411-1412; RP (7/28/14) 2445. Houston was found with a revolver in his hand. RP (7/1/14) 154-162; RP (7/2/14) 279-280. The revolver held five live rounds; a spent casing was found nearby. RP (7/1/14) 161. On the front passenger floorboard, police found another spent casing of a different caliber. RP (7/7/14) 626-627, 637, 720.

Neither Jeter nor any of the bystanders who observed the shooting could say who returned fire and shot Houston. RP (7/2/14) 324-363, 393-427, 436-469, 495-525, 537-584; RP (7/8/14) 758-832. Miller, Lee, and Allen all claimed that Mr. Ralls and Mr. Miles were the ones who shot back. RP (7/9/14) 1042-1043, 1061, 1069-1071, 1075; RP (7/10/14)

⁸ The state also presented the testimony of two men who claimed that Mr. Ralls had confessed to them. One was Curtis Hudson, a frequently-used informant seeking to avoid prison despite convictions for drug dealing and gun possession. RP (7/15/14) 1602-1621; RP

1191-1192, 1211-1212; RP (7/14/14) 1269, 1278, 1280-1281, 1310, 1320, 1322, 1364-1366; RP (7/14/14) 1415-1416. They were the only witnesses who made this claim. *See* RP *generally*.

Mr. Ralls testified at trial. He acknowledged that he was present during the encounter. He told the jury he was sitting in the back seat when the gunfight erupted. He admitted that he'd been rolling joints, and said he wasn't paying attention to what the others in the car were saying. RP (7/28/14) 2429-2453; RP (7/29/14) 2545. He said that no one had discussed any plan or desire for retaliation. RP (7/28/14) 2439, 2444-2453; RP (7/29/14) 2505. He also confirmed that the first shot came from the jeep. RP (7/28/14) 2445.

The court agreed to give a non-standard state proposal: "The right of self-defense does not permit action done in retaliation or revenge." CP 112. The instruction was given over defense objection. RP (7/29/14) 2559-2560, 2562.

The defense also objected to the court's instruction on the first-aggressor rule. RP (7/29/14) 2571-2576. That instruction included the following:

^(7/16/14) 1659, 1667-1669, 1782-1803, 1823. The other was Ahmad Dyles, also a drugdealer and self-described "gang-banger" at the time of the incident. RP (7/16/14) 1707-1708. Both claimed that the group wanted retribution for the earlier drive-by shootings. RP (7/15/14) 1616-1620; RP (7/16/14) 1658, 1671-1673, 1715.

No person may, by any intentional act reasonably likely to provoke a belligerent response, create a necessity for acting in self-defense.... [I]f you find beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant or an accomplice was the aggressor and that the defendant's or an accomplice's acts and conduct provoked or commenced the fight, then self-defense or defense of another is not available as a defense.

CP 111.

The prosecution used a PowerPoint during closing arguments. The first and third slides included the following language:

*RIGHT OF SELF-DEFENSE DOES NOT IMPLY RIGHT OF REVENGE OR RETALIATION

State's Closing Argument, Supp. CP.⁹

The majority of the slides outlined events prior to the shooting. State's Closing Argument, Supp. CP.

The prosecutor addressed retaliation and revenge several times throughout closing. He described the defense case as "at best… revenge, retaliation." RP (7/29/14) 2596.¹⁰ He quoted the "retaliation" instruction when showing jurors his first slide.¹¹ RP (7/29/14) 2599.

He again quoted the "retaliation" instruction while discussing the first-aggressor concept. RP (7/29/14) 2607. Later, he reiterated "[t]hey are

⁹ Unlike the other information on the slide, these words were written in all-caps. State's Closing Argument, Supp. CP.

¹⁰ He also told jurors that Tacoma is not "the wild west," where feuding parties "engage in shootouts, revenge, go back and shoot the other side now because you've been hit…" RP (7/29/14) 2596.

¹¹ He also provided his own interpretation: "You just cannot, under the law... after the threat is gone, calculate to go take care of it later." RP (7/29/14) 2599.

not legally permitted to retaliate." RP (7/29/08) 2608. He returned to the subject during rebuttal closing: "This whole concept of this delay in time, you can't do it for retaliation, that has been beat into you by now. This is not imminent." RP (7/30/14) 2766.

Several times he used the word "retaliate" when summarizing testimony. At one point he said "Everyone was talking, [Miller] says, about retaliating..." RP (7/29/14) 2618. He reiterated this later: "Everyone talking about retaliating because getting tired of shootings [sic]. No specific plan other than to go back and shoot at them guys." RP (7/30/14) 2767.

At another point he summarized an informant's claim that "[Ralls] said, he and Allen and others went to the Hilltop to retaliate." RP (7/29/14) 2628. He also repeated this claim in rebuttal closing: "Ralls said, he, Allen, and others went to the Hilltop to retaliate." RP (7/30/14) 2768.

He claimed that no witnesses had testified about self-defense, but that "[e]very person, in contrast, has said retaliation, which, as I have said, is not self-defense. You cannot do that." RP (7/29/14) 2629.

Following the state's closing, counsel reminded the court of her prior objection to the instruction and then told the judge that "the State misused the instruction." RP (7/30/14) 2639. When asked to explain, she said that

The State made it the theme of its case. In doing so, by saying the right of self-defense does not permit action in retaliation or revenge in the context of the other self-defense instruction other instructions basically used it out of context.

RP (7/30/14) 2639.

She also pointed out that the other instructions already covered killings done solely for retaliation or revenge. She criticized the prosecutor for improperly arguing that the instruction prohibited Mr. Ralls and his companions from arguing self-defense even if Houston were the aggressor. RP (7/30/14) 2639-2640.

The state also argued that the mere act of traveling to the Hilltop neighborhood was an act of aggression and negated any self-defense claim. $RP(7/29/14)\ 2608-2611$.

At the end of the closing arguments, the trial judge "thanked and excused" the alternate jurors. RP (7/30/14) 2776. The record does not reflect that the court instructed the alternates to continue to avoid the media or information that may taint deliberations should they be recalled, or gave them any other warnings or directions, including the admonishment not to discuss the case until the deliberations were completed. RP (7/30/14) 2776.

On the next day, Juror No. 4 did not show up. Before deliberations started, he had voiced his concern about the schedule. At that time, both

defendants asked the judge to keep Juror No. 4 on the jury rather than replacing him with an alternate. RP (7/30/14) 2744-2746.

When Juror No. 4 failed to appear (after calling in to reiterate he couldn't come), defense counsel asked the court to recess and allow the jury to resume deliberations on Monday. RP (7/31/14) 2783-2785. The judge, who had already summoned an alternate, announced his plan to replace Juror No. 4 with an alternate. The court made no attempt to contact Juror No. 4. Over defense objection, the judge seated Juror No. 13 as a replacement for Juror No. 4. The judge did not ask the alternate if she'd heard anything about the case after she'd been excused. Nor did the judge ask if she'd discussed the case with anyone. RP (7/31/14) 2783-2788.

After hours of deliberations, the jurors sent out a note. Clerk's

Trial Minutes, Supp. CP. The note was captioned "Jury Question During

Deliberations." It included the following two lines of handwritten text:

If we determine a defendant is an accomplice, are they liable for the same crime?

We are having confusion distinguishing between instructions #3 and #4.

Jury Question, Supp. CP.

The defense repeatedly asked the court to refer jurors back to the instructions. RP (8/1/14) 2794-2795, 2805, 2808. Defense counsel pointed

out that the jury's confusion was unclear: "we are just guessing—randomly guessing as to what they may be thinking." RP (8/1/14) 2805. When the court acknowledged "that it's difficult to always know what the jury is really upset about," defense counsel interrupted to ask "What if we're wrong?" RP (8/1/14) 2805.

Both the court and the prosecutor believed the correct legal answer to be "Yes." RP (8/1/14) 2794, 2809, 2800, 2801, 2806, 2809. The judge proposed a response, to which the defense objected. RP (8/1/14) 2796-2809. Counsel pointed out that the proposed language might add confusion, in part because "it doesn't distinguish between 'a crime' and 'the crime." RP (8/1/14) 2802, 2803. The defense also pointed out that the court was "emphasizing only [one] portion in that entire instruction" (the instruction on accomplice liability). RP (8/1/14) 2803.

After the court refused to refer jurors back to the instructions as a whole, the defense asked the court to read the whole instruction on accomplice liability, rather than to emphasize one particular part.¹² RP (8/1/14) 2803-2804, 2807-2808.

 $^{^{12}}$ In the end, the defense warned the judge regarding his planned course of action: "I think that you modify instructions and you give answers to juries about instructions at your peril. I think providing any further definitions or direction on these instructions is dangerous." RP (8/1/14) 2809.

After hearing from counsel, and over defense objection, the court gave the following answer:

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