### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

# ANTHONY EUGENE RALLS, and NATHANIEL WESLEY MILES, APPELLANTS

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Bryan Chushcoff

No. 13-1-01703-4 No. 13-1-01704-2

#### **Brief of Respondent**

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JAMES SCHACHT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

### **

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

The defendants' actions in this case are a carbon copy of the gangrelated shootings in *Yarbrough* and *Pettus*. In both *Yarbrough*, and *Pettus*, the defendants had a prior dispute with a particular individual and
targeted that individual at a time and in a location where other people
unrelated to the dispute were present. *State v. Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App.
at 84. *State v. Pettus*, 89 Wn. App. at 695. Here, likewise the defendants
were after a specific target or targets and were entirely indifferent to the
location where they chose to engage them and to the innocent bystanders
who would be endangered by the gunfire. Exs. 7, 10, 17, 66 and 67.

Michael Jeter testified that he, Bernard Houston and the two women were

sitting in the Jeep at the corner of 23<sup>rd</sup> and Sheridan, an intersection of two residential streets, in front of a residence known as the Noble House. 6 RP 873-74, 888. Across the street was a church and down the street was the Doboshi's convenience store with residents living above it. 6 RP 895-98. Mr. Jeter heard multiple shots being fired and was hit by gunfire as he fled on foot in the direction of Doboshi's. 6 RP 900-03. The shooting of Bernard Houston in front of the Noble house and the shooting of unarmed Michael Jeter as he was fleeing in the company of two unarmed and uninvolved women on foot toward Doboshi's is more than sufficient evidence of extreme indifference.

The test of sufficiency of the evidence is "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Hosier*, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006). Furthermore, "[a]ll reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant." *Id.* at 8.

In an insufficiency claim, the defendant "admits the truth of the State's evidence" and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct evidence." *State v. Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). The court defers "to

the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence." *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874–75, 83 P.3d 970, *abrogated in part on other grounds* by *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). Only when no rational trier of fact could have found that the State proved all of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt can a claim of insufficiency be sustained. *State v. Smith*, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).

Any argument that the jury misunderstood extreme indifference murder is belied by the jury instructions in this case. The instructions drew a distinction between premeditated first degree murder and extreme indifference murder. CP Ralls 101-02, 124-25. CP Miles 721-22, 743-44, Instructions 13, 14, 29 and 30. The State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that each defendant "or an accomplice engaged in [conduct that created a grave risk of death] under circumstances manifesting an extreme indifference to human life". CP Ralls 124-25. CP Miles 743-44, Instructions 29 and 30. Furthermore, the instructions required that the defendants' acts were "without a premeditated design to effect the death of a particular individual." CP Ralls 123, CP Miles 124, Instruction 28A. "A jury is presumed to follow instructions." *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn. 2d 161, 178, 225 P.3d 973 (2010), citing *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).

There is no reason to believe that the jury in this case disregarded the trial court's explicit instructions about extreme indifference. The evidence supporting the verdict was all but uncontroverted. The evidence included (1) the location where the shooting took place, a residential neighborhood that included single family residences and a church in the back drop [6 RP 766-68]; (2) people other than the intended target, Mr. Houston, were in the vicinity just before the shooting [3 RP 327-29]; (3) the shooting started as three individuals, Michael Jeter, Tyra Doucoure and Calille McMichael fled unarmed from the Jeep, and in the case of the two women, while they had their hands up so as not to be shot [3 RP 408, 566-67. 6 RP 767-86.]; (4) of the multiple shots fired by the defendants, only two found their mark; the other bullets posed a danger to any number of innocent bystanders, much as the bullet fired earlier in the day on the eastside had endangered the infant child of Fred Appleton [2 RP 151, 200, 230, 6 RP 896, 7 RP 1049-51].

In light of the wealth of uncontroverted evidence of extreme indifference, it can hardly be said that no rational trier of fact would have found as this jury found. In fact, it can be said that because this shooting and killing were not justified by lawful self defense, extreme indifference was the only reasonable conclusion.

3. WHEN IT SEATED AN ALTERNATE JUROR, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION, WHERE THE JUROR HAD REFUSED TO DELIBERATE AND HAD NOT COMPLIED WITH THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION TO COMMENCE DELIBERATIONS WITH THE REST OF THE JURY.

The decision to seat an alternate juror is entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial court. *State v. Johnson*, 90 Wn. App. 54, 71-73, 950 P.2d 981 (1998), citing *State v. Ashcraft*, 71 Wn. App. 444, 461, 859 P.2d 60 (1993). While the trial court is responsible to ensure that there are sufficient reasons to release a deliberating juror, and to ensure the impartiality of the alternate, there is no required format that the trial court must follow. *State v. Dye*, 170 Wn. App. 340, 349, 283 P.3d 1130, *affirmed on other grounds*, 178 Wn.2d 541 (2012), *State v. Jorden*, 103 Wn. App. 221, 11 P.3d 866, *review denied* 143 Wn.2d 1015 (2000). "We are unwilling to impose on the trial court a mandatory format for establishing such a record. Instead the trial judge has discretion to hear and resolve the misconduct issue in a way that avoids tainting the juror and, thus, avoids creating prejudice against either party." *Id.* at 229.

In this case the behavior of Juror No. 4 placed the trial court and the parties in an impossible position. On the one hand the juror was one of twelve jurors who had been excused late in the day the day before to deliberate. 19 RP 2776. On the other, the juror had made a request for personal reasons that deliberations be postponed over the weekend, and

when that request was not granted, chose to violate his oath and duty and not join the other jurors to deliberate. 20 RP 2783. The court also had to weigh any delay in deliberations against the needs of another juror, number 11, who had voluntarily re-arranged a vacation in order to complete his jury service. 20 RP 2785. A reasonable inference from juror 4's behavior is that he was unwilling to follow the trial court's direction and instructions and could not be counted upon to complete his service as a juror without prejudicing the fairness of the trial. Under these circumstances, the trial court would have been remiss if it had not excused the juror because it risked misconduct that could have affected the entire panel.

For the sake of argument, the defense position that deliberations should have been delayed over the weekend to accommodate a single uncooperative juror could conceivably be deemed reasonable. But so too was the decision to replace the uncooperative juror with an alternate. Surely the trial court cannot have abused its discretion by choosing one reasonable option over the other.

As any experienced trial judge would know, in a trial that lasts a month, there is every possibility that seating an alternate juror may become necessary. CrR 6.5 entrusts the trial court with assuring the impartiality of alternate jurors and states that "the jury shall be instructed to disregard all previous deliberations and begin deliberations anew" when an alternate is seated. The record reflects that the trial court was mindful

of the possibility of an alternate being seated and of the requirements of this rule. It said, "We haven't lost an alternate yet, and we have been here for over a month." 20 RP 2785. Furthermore it instructed the jury as follows:

As you also note, during the trial earlier, Ms. Newport was excused as an alternate juror. Ms. Newport has now been seated as a juror in the case. You must disregard all previous deliberations and begin deliberations anew. Ladies and gentlemen, with that additional instruction, you are now free to go back and commence your deliberations. 20 RP 2788.

With the foregoing instruction in mind, there is every reason to infer that the trial court faithfully discharged its duty of assuring that the re-constituted panel was not tainted. No evidence has been brought to the Court's attention of juror misconduct. Thus it would be speculation to read into the record something that is not there. The trial court's decision to seat an alternate juror should be upheld.

4. THE TRIAL COURT'S ANSWER TO A JURY QUESTION WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION WHERE IT PROVIDED THE JURY WITH A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW, DID NOT COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE AND DID NOT GO BEYOND THE JURY'S QUESTION.

A trial court has discretion to respond to questions from a deliberating jury and to give additional instructions. CrR 6.15(f). *State v. Becklin*, 163 Wn.2d 519, 182 P.3d 944 (2008). In considering jury questions about the law or instructions, "The court shall respond to all

questions from a deliberating jury in open court or in writing. . . Any additional instruction upon any point of law shall be given in writing." CrR 6.15(f).

A trial court's decision to answer a jury question and give or not give additional jury instructions to a deliberating jury is entrusted to the court's discretion. *State v. Jasper*, 158 Wn. App. 518, 542, 245 P.3d 228, 241 (2010), *affirmed*, 174 Wn.2d 96 (2012), citing *State v. Becklin*, *supra* at 529-30, and *State v. Ng*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 42–43, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). The abuse of discretion standard means that "the trial court's decision will be reversed only if no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did." *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn. 2d 821, 856, 83 P.3d 970 (2004), citing *State v. Castellanos*, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997).

During deliberations the jury sent the trial court a written note about two of the jury instructions. 21 RP 2793. CP Ralls 837-38. CP Miles 708-09. The question read: "If we determine a defendant is an accomplice, are they liable for the same crime? We are having confusion distinguishing between instructions #3 and #9." It would be a mistake to read more into this question than the actual words. The jury said that they were experiencing "confusion" about two jury instructions. Their confusion is more than reasonable considering that those particular instructions said both (1) that "Your verdict on one count as to one defendant should not control your verdict on any other count or as to the

other defendant", and (2) that a "person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he or she is legally accountable". CP Ralls 95, 101, Instructions 3 and 9. CP Miles 715, 721, Instructions 3 and 9.

The jury identified a difficult aspect of the instructions that could delight a legal scholar. Namely it was concerned about deciding each defendant's case independently while simultaneously applying the law of complicity. Contrary to the defendants' arguments, the jury did not express any confusion as to the mental state for an accomplice. Had the trial court read mental state into the jury's question and given additional instructions on the mental state of the defendants, it would have strayed into commenting on the evidence. It did not do so. Instead, the trial court answered the question by reference to the original instructions.

The trial court's answer was contained in two paragraphs. The first paragraph contained a single sentence, most of which was taken verbatim from Instruction 3. Only fifteen of the words differ from Instruction No. 3 and those words correctly told the jury that they had to decide the case of each defendant "independently". CP Ralls 838. CP Miles 709. This was a correct statement of the jury's duty in a codefendant case. WPIC 3.03.

The second paragraph was even more appropriate. In that paragraph, in the first of two sentences, the trial court used the same words that were used in Instruction 9. CP Ralls 838. CP Miles 709. In the

second sentence the trial court simply stated, "Instruction # 9 further defines when a person is an accomplice." While the defendants now argue that the trial court should have gone beyond the jury's question and given additional instructions on the mental element of accomplice liability, they argued at the time for no additional instructions to be given.

Any experienced trial judge has been called upon to rule on questions such as this countless times. Lay jurors are called upon to interpret and apply complicated legal standards on a daily basis. It cannot be said that no reasonable trial judge would have done as this judge did. While it may have been permissible to not answer the jury's question, as requested by the defense, surely when such issues are entrusted to the trial court's discretion, the trial court cannot be faulted for giving a simple conservative answer that was a correct statement of the law. The defendants' arguments about an improper answer to the jury question should be rejected.

5. WHEN IT IMPOSED LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS, THE TRIAL COURT HAD BEFORE IT INFORMATION FROM WHICH AN INDIVIDUALIZED DETERMINATION COULD BE MADE AS TO THE DEFENDANTS' ABILITY TO PAY AND THUS DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR.

When imposing discretionary legal financial obligations ("LFO's"), a trial court must include in its record "that the trial court made an individualized inquiry into the defendant's current and future ability to pay. Within this inquiry, the court must also consider important factors . . .

such as incarceration and a defendant's other debts, including restitution, when determining a defendant's ability to pay." *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn. 2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). In making such an individualized determination it is important to bear in mind that "[s]entencing judges have traditionally been given discretion in the sources and types of evidence used for determining a defendant's sentence." *State v. Strauss*, 119 Wn.2d 401, 418, 832 P.2d 78 (1992). Moreover, on direct review an "appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." *State v. Blazina*, *supra* at 832, quoting RAP 2.5(a).

In most violent crime cases LFO's are the least of the defendants' concerns at sentencing. This explains the paucity of argument over money during the sentencing hearings in these cases. The standard range for defendant Ralls in this case was 250 to 333 months [CP Ralls 188.] and for defendant Miles it was 291 to 388 months [CP Miles 770.].

Considering that the defendants were endeavoring to be sentenced at less than the high end of the range, their attorneys can be excused for choosing not to quibble over money in the presence of Bernard Houston's family.

In the event that *Blazina* is read, as the defendants would have this Court read it, as mandating a contested hearing about money at all sentencing hearings, in this case both defendants can be said to have waived the issue. *State v. Lyle*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App.\_\_\_\_, 355 P.3d 327, 329 (2015). Both of the defendants in this case were sentenced a year before

sentenced approximately five months after this Court issued its opinion in *Blazina*. *Id.* Regardless of the record that was made at the sentencing hearings in these cases, because the defendants were not mindful of this Court's *Blazina* opinion, it would be perfectly reasonable for this Court to decline to review of alleged error that was not preserved. *Id.* at 329. ("Our decision in *Blazina*, issued before [the defendant's] March 14, 2014 sentencing, provided notice that the failure to object to LFOs during sentencing waives a related claim of error on appeal."). This Court certainly has discretion to review or not review an unpreserved claim of error under RAP 2.5(a). In this case this Court should decline review.

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